Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews





journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev

# The auditory dorsal pathway: Orienting vision

### Stephen R. Arnott<sup>a,\*</sup>, Claude Alain<sup>a,b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Rotman Research Institute, Baycrest Centre, 3560 Bathurst Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M6A 2E1
<sup>b</sup> Department of Psychology, University of Toronto, Ontario, Canada M8V 2S4

### ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Sound localization Spatial Saccade Eye movement What and where Action Orienting

### ABSTRACT

A particularly prominent model of auditory cortical function proposes that a dorsal brain pathway, emanating from the posterior auditory cortex, is primarily concerned with processing the spatial features of sounds. In the present paper, we outline some difficulties with a strict functional interpretation of this pathway, and highlight the recent trend to understand this pathway in terms of one that uses acoustic information to guide motor output towards objects of interest. In this spirit, we consider the possibility that some of the auditory spatial processing activity that has been observed in the dorsal pathway may actually be understood as a form of action processing in which the visual system may be guided to a particular location of interest. In this regard, attentional orientation may be considered a low-level form of action planning. Incorporating an auditory-guided motor aspect to the dorsal pathway not only offers a more holistic account of auditory processing, but also provides a more ecologically valid perspective on auditory processing in dorsal brain regions.

© 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

### Contents

1.	Introduction	2162
2.	Re-examining the dorsal pathway	2163
	2.1. Acting on auditory input	2164
	2.2. Action sounds	2164
3.	Sound localization: calls to action?	2165
	3.1. Cortical areas involved in the generation of saccades	2165
	3.2. Eye movements as an ecologically valid response to auditory localization	2166
	3.3. Cortical brain regions where auditory-visual spatial interactions occur	2168
	3.3.1. Frontal eye fields	2168
	3.3.2. Parietal lobe	2168
	3.3.3. Other cortical regions	2169
	3.4. Summary	2169
4.	Dorsal pathway and attentional orienting	2169
	4.1. Multiple streams	2170
5.	Concluding remarks	2170
	Acknowledgements	2170
	References	2170

### 1. Introduction

The 'decade of the brain' brought with it many advances in our understanding of the auditory cortical system. By the early 1990s it had become evident that cells in the auditory cortex were not functionally homogeneous. Single-cell research in non-

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 416 785 2500x2335. E-mail address: sarnott@rotman-baycrest.on.ca (S.R. Arnott). human primates established that the primary auditory cortex (i.e., Al) was surrounded by a 'belt' area, which in turn was bordered laterally by a 'parabelt' region (Kosaki et al., 1997; Morel et al., 1993; Rauschecker, 1997). Whereas neurons in the core (i.e., Al) responded best to simple auditory stimuli such as pure tones, those in the belt and parabelt responded best to more complex sounds (e.g., vocalizations and bands of noise, Rauschecker et al., 1995). Most remarkably, caudal but not rostral neurons within these areas, were shown to be particularly sensitive to the location of sounds (Benson et al., 1981; Kaas and Hackett, 2000; Leinonen et al., 1980;

<sup>0149-7634/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.04.005

Morel et al., 1993; Rauschecker, 1998; Recanzone et al., 2000; Tian et al., 2001; Vaadia et al., 1986), whereas more rostrally positioned neurons in the lateral belt and beyond were more sensitive to non-spatial acoustic qualities such as conspecific vocalizations (Rauschecker and Tian, 2000; Tian et al., 2001). Beyond auditory cortex, connections from the caudal parabelt regions were found to extend to the ventral inferior parietal (VIP) cortex of the monkey (Lewis and Van Essen, 2000) as well as reciprocally into the caudal principal sulcus (area 46) and frontal eye fields (area 8a, Hackett et al., 1999; Romanski et al., 1999a, 1999b). By comparison, the rostral belt region was found to have connections with the frontal pole (area 10), rostral principal sulcus (area 46), and ventral prefrontal areas (areas 12 and 45, Romanski and Goldman-Rakic, 2002). Taken as a whole, these results were interpreted as forming the basis of a domain-specific model of auditory processing whereby auditory non-spatial (i.e., "what") and spatial (i.e., "where") information were processed by ventral and dorsal brain pathways, respectively (i.e., the "what-where" model or WW model, Kaas and Hackett, 1999; Rauschecker and Tian, 2000; Romanski et al., 1999b).

This auditory model bore many similarities to the "what-where" model of the visual cortical system developed over a decade earlier in which two visual pathways were defined as emanating from the striate cortex: a ventral stream crucial for visual identification of objects, and an occipitotemporal-parietal pathway crucial for appreciating the spatial relationships among objects as well as for the visual guidance of movements towards objects in space (Ungerleider and Haxby, 1994; Ungerleider and Mishkin, 1982). Support for that model was derived from research demonstrating that lesions to monkey inferior temporal cortex resulted in deficits on pattern, object, or colour discrimination tasks, but not on visuospatial tasks such as visually guided reaching or relative distance judgments (see Ungerleider and Mishkin, 1982). Lesions to the posterior parietal cortex, on the other hand, did not seem to affect visual discrimination performance but did affect visuospatial performance. Physiological data also supported the distinction (Desimone and Ungerleider, 1989; Maunsell and Newsome, 1987), as did data from humans (Haxby et al., 1991; von Cramon and Kerkhoff, 1993).

Not long after the auditory findings in animals were reported, a similar pattern of auditory processing was revealed in humans. In one of the first experiments to offer double dissociative evidence in neurologically intact humans, we presented functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) participants with noiseburst sounds that varied in pitch and perceived location (Alain et al., 2001). Relative to when listeners were asked to attend to the location features of the sounds, attention to the sounds' pitch elicited greater blood-oxygen-level dependent (BOLD) hemodynamic activity in the auditory cortex and inferior frontal gyrus. In contrast, attending to the location properties elicited relatively greater activity in the participants' posterior temporal lobe, superior parietal lobe and superior frontal sulcus. Event-related potentials recorded while the listeners carried out these tasks also revealed differential task effects over the anterior and posterior temporal regions. These, along with many other neuroimaging and patient observations, strongly argued in favour of a dual pathway model of human auditory cortical processing, often termed the auditory 'what-where' model (see Fig. 1, Ahveninen et al., 2006; Alain et al., 2008; Altmann et al., 2007; Anourova et al., 2001; Arnott et al., 2004, 2005; Barrett and Hall, 2006; Belin and Zatorre, 2000; Bushara et al., 1999; De Santis et al., 2007; Degerman et al., 2006; Deouell et al., 2007; Maeder et al., 2001; Schröger and Wolff, 1997; Tardif et al., 2008; Tata and Ward, 2005; Thiran and Clarke, 2003; Weeks et al., 1999; Zatorre et al., 2002).

Despite its popularity, the auditory WW model has not been without criticism (Belin and Zatorre, 2000; Hall, 2003; Recanzone and Cohen, 2010). One concern has been that a distinction based

**Fig. 1.** Schematic of the dual-pathway model of auditory cortical processing summarizing neurophysiological and neuroimaging data from humans and animals (refer to text). The dorsal 'spatial' and ventral 'what' pathways are denoted by blue and red arrows, respectively. AI = primary auditory cortex; AL = anterolateral belt; CL = caudolateral belt; CS = central sulcus; HG = Heschl's gyrus; IPS = intraparietal sulcus; ML = middle lateral belt; postCS = postcentral sulcus; preCS = precentral sulcus; STS = superior frontal sulcus; Adapted from Rauschecker and Tian (2000) and Romanski et al. (1999a).

on 'what' and 'where' features of a sound tends to be an oversimplification of the data and does not provide an adequate functional account of how the auditory system and the brain, in general, operates. Moreover, it has become apparent that non-spatial auditory processing can also elicit activation in the dorsal pathway, albeit often to a lesser extent than does spatial processing (cf. Arnott et al., 2004; Gifford and Cohen, 2005; Husain and Nachev, 2007; Renier et al., 2009), and that, in some cases, the parietal neurons that are activated by auditory spatial tasks can be the same as those activated by non-spatial tasks (Gifford and Cohen, 2005). For example, our meta-analysis of auditory neuroimaging studies demonstrated that unlike regions of the superior frontal sulcus (SFS) that were driven exclusively by auditory spatial processing, over 40% of auditory studies considered to be 'non-spatial' in nature (i.e., the auditory stimuli were only ever delivered from one location and the listener's task did not involve any kind of localization or spatial judgment), reported significant functional activity in the inferior parietal lobe (IPL) region in addition to the virtually 100% of auditory 'spatial' processing studies that were examined (Arnott et al., 2004). Accordingly, while it is evident that the auditory dorsal pathway, and the IPL in particular, is activated any time a relative auditory spatial judgment has to be made, it is also apparent that the IPL is involved in more than just creating auditory spatial maps.

### 2. Re-examining the dorsal pathway

In recent years, a subtle but important variation on the role of the auditory dorsal pathway has become evident across disparate domains of auditory research. In particular, there has been an increasing emphasis on the role that the dorsal pathway plays in instructing action, or guiding motor output based on auditory information. Before reviewing these data, it is important to acknowledge the visuo-motor theory from which some of this work draws its inspiration.

Popularized in the 1990s by Milner and Goodale, the perception–action (PA) theory of cortical organization evolved out of a similar need within the visual literature to account for emerging monkey and neurological findings that the visual WW models of the time could not easily accommodate (Goodale and Milner, 1992; Milner et al., 1991). Among these was the observation that a person



could possess damage to the dorsal pathway and still exhibit some preserved spatial processing abilities. For example, it was known that optic ataxic patients with damage to the intraparietal sulcus and either the superior aspect of the IPL or the superior parietal lobule (SPL) often demonstrated difficulty reaching for or orienting their hands towards objects in the visual field, even though they were still able to accurately describe the relative position of objects in space (Perenin and Vighetto, 1983, 1988). Such deficits stood in stark contrast to those of a visual agnosic patient (D.F.) who, despite developing a profound visual agnosia for object form and shape following hypoxic lesions to her ventral visual pathway (that is in the lateral occipital area (LO) James et al., 2003), could still carry out skilled motor actions on those objects, implying that the dorsal stream was privy to some 'what' information (Goodale et al., 1991; Milner et al., 1991). In other words, lesion evidence was suggestive of a dissociation between what a viewer perceived and how a viewer acted on the visual information (i.e., instruct motor output).

Such evidence shifted the emphasis on the dual pathway distinctions from being in terms of how sensory information/input is processed (i.e., spatial versus non-spatial features) towards what the outputs or end result of the two streams were (i.e., one concerned with making sense of what one was seeing, and the other with acting on what one was seeing). Whereas the ventral pathway was characterized using vision to guide perception (e.g., the object lying on the table is a coffee cup), the dorsal pathway was characterized as a 'vision-for-action' pathway. In particular, it was the dorsal pathway that enabled the real-time control of action in such a way that enabled spatial information to be (unconsciously) transformed into the coordinate frames of the effector that was being used to carry out the action (e.g., reaching out to correctly grasp the coffee cup by the handle). To this date, the model continues to offer a robust account of visual data, in normal as well as in neurologically compromised populations (for more recent reviews, see Goodale, 2008; Milner and Goodale, 2008). Because one can readily imagine the advantages of having two systems (i.e., one that enables a person to reflect on and perceive objects in the world, and another that enables them to act on those objects with seeming effortlessness and 'automaticity'), the model possesses a degree of intuitive appeal. More importantly, it rather nicely accommodates many visual illusion dissociations where an observer who perceives one reality (e.g., as when two lines of equal length are visually perceived to be unequal in an Ebbinghaus illusion) nevertheless behaves quite differently when asked to 'act' on that object (e.g., when reaching to pick up the 'unequal' lines, the observer's grip aperture is correctly scaled to the object's actual size).

### 2.1. Acting on auditory input

Do principles of the visuo-motor perception-action model have any relevance to audition? Increasingly, the answer to this question seems to be "yes". Take for example two direct behavioural tests of the action-perception interpretation of auditory processing (see also, Griffiths, 2008). In one study it was demonstrated that when the pitch of a singer's note was externally altered before it reached the singer's own ear, that singer was found to 'correct' the pitch of the self-produced note even though he or she was perceptually unaware that any pitch change had taken place (Hafke, 2008). Although rigorous psychophysical research was not carried out to indicate whether the listeners were actually aware of the perceptual thresholds (and thus at some level may have been 'perceptually aware' of the pitch change), the results are nevertheless suggestive of an auditory perception and action dissociation. Similarly, a different research group (for similar findings see also Dalla Bella et al., 2009) found that for a given tone pair interval, persons with congenital amusia who were unable to reliably report the perceived pitch change direction for a given interval, nevertheless were more reliably able to *reproduce* that interval when asked to hum the two tones (Loui et al., 2008). These results could also be taken as support for an auditory action stream that can operate outside of conscious awareness, and that operates separately from a conscious perceptual (or 'what') stream. Within the visuomotor PA model, it has been argued that while the ventral perception stream operates using relative metrics to other objects (and can therefore be encapsulated in a perceptual representation), the functions of the dorsal stream necessitate rapid coordinate computations that are capable of operating in "real-time" in order to interact with rapidly changing goal objects (Goodale, 2008). This may help explain why the dorsal system operations are not always part of conscious awareness.

Yet even apart from such direct tests, the perception-action flavour is clearly present in other areas of auditory research. Studies of rhythm perception are a good example of goal-directed action based on auditory input because in order to actively tap out a beat, one must base the timing of their action on what they are hearing. Functional brain imaging studies carried out on listeners who were asked to finger-tap to a beat typically show involvement of dorsal pathway brain areas including posterior regions of the lateral STG, as well as bilateral regions of the frontal cortex including dorsal premotor cortex, the supplementary motor area (SMA) and the pre-SMA (Chen et al., 2009; Repp, 2005). Even when naïve listeners are asked to passively attend to rhythms and not tap at all (i.e., thereby minimizing any possible 'intent for action'), premotor, frontal and auditory areas are still recruited (Chen et al., 2009). Such findings are suggestive of an inherent link between auditory and motor systems, and therefore support a link between auditory processing in dorsal brain areas.

Apart from music and rhythm, the issue of auditory perception and action is also apparent in models of speech processing. Hickok and Poeppel in particular have proposed a dual-stream model of speech processing that is composed of a ventral auditory pathway involved in mapping sound into meaning (thereby enabling speech recognition), and a dorsal pathway that is important for mapping sound into an articulatory-based representation that enables speech perception (Hickok and Poeppel, 2000, 2004, 2007). They argue that bilateral regions of the superior temporal sulcus actively represent visuomotor correspondence between one's own actions and the actions of others. Most recently, a review by Rauschecker and Scott (2009) outlines a similar model of speech perception and production that builds on data from Hickok as well as others. Like Hickok et al., they maintain that the postero-dorsal pathway participates in the transformation of acoustic speech signals into articulatory representations. As with our research, Rauschecker and Scott approach their theory from an auditory what-where perspective and, in so doing, argue that auditory 'what/where' and 'perception/action' theories differ mainly in point of emphasis.

### 2.2. Action sounds

Part of our everyday activities often includes some form of 'action listening'. Whether it is the sound of someone walking down a hallway or a knock at the door, such sounds often deliver an immediate understanding about what that person is doing. As it turns out, research investigating how this type of auditory information is processed consistently reveals activation in the dorsal auditory pathway, even when the sounds are presented in such a way that they are devoid of any features that give rise to a spatial perception. For example, we recently demonstrated robust activation of the left IPL in participants who were performing a non-spatial auditory task that involved perceiving material properties of objects (Arnott et al., 2008). Along with control sounds, monaural audio recordings of different malleable materials being 'crumpled' in someone's hands (i.e., paper, plastic, styrofoam or aluminium foil sheets) were randomly presented in a diotic manner to each subject over headphones as they lay in an MRI categorizing each sound as being a 'material', 'noise' (i.e., scrambled material sound file) or a nonverbal 'human' sound (e.g., coughing and snoring). Interestingly, while we confirmed our hypothesis that auditory material-specific activity would be found in an area of the brain that we believe is involved in the perception of the surface properties of an object (i.e., posterior ventromedial brain regions, Cant et al., 2009; Cant and Goodale, 2007), we also found very reliable non-spatial, auditory material-specific activation in the left IPL along the inferior parietal sulcus. This region was just posterior to the human homologue of the anterior intraparietal area (hAIP), roughly corresponding to the vicinity of the caudal intraparietal area (CIP). While the former has been well-documented in macaques to be involved in visually guided grasping movements towards objects (for a review, see Culham et al., 2006), area CIP is known to be activated during the visual analysis of surface and pattern orientation, especially as it relates to reaching or grasping objects (Grefkes and Fink, 2005; Shikata et al., 1996; Taira et al., 2001). As there was no spatial processing required in this diotic sound material identification task, the activation could be interpreted as reflecting the use of actionschema by the listeners in order to identify the sound as a material (i.e., imagining the action of crumpling a sheet of material with one's hand in response to hearing the sound). Post-experimental debriefings revealed that these naïve participants all reported having the (accurate) impression that the sounds were created by having someone 'crumple' various pieces of material in their hands.

Although that 'material sound' study was not specifically designed to investigate the 'action' nature inherent in those sounds, studies that have been designed for that purpose reveal similar brain activations. For instance, Lewis and colleagues also reported activation of the left IPL when right-handed participants listened to the nonspatial sounds of hand tools (e.g., drills) being appropriately used as compared to when they listened to animal sounds (Lewis et al., 2005, 2006). Lewis et al.'s interpretation of the activation patterns was essentially an action-schema account that involved the "mental mimicry of motor production sequences" that were most likely to have produced the sounds (see also Lewis et al., 2004). Finally, another fMRI study in human listeners also revealed that the processing of 'action sounds' activated the intraparietal sulcus (Lahav et al., 2007). In that study, non-musicians were first trained on a piano to play a particular piece of music by ear. Later, when these participants were presented with the same piece of music while their BOLD activity was recorded with fMRI, bilateral activation was found in regions of the frontoparietal motor network that included, in addition to the intraparietal area, the inferior parietal area, premotor region, and Broca's area. Importantly, during the presentation of the music, the listener's task did not involve performing any movements, but merely involved listening to the music. In keeping with an auditory-based action processing account, such brain activity was greatly attenuated when the order of the musical notes was altered and, in fact, was not observed at all when the same participants listened to an equally familiar, but motorically unknown piece of music.

### 3. Sound localization: calls to action?

"Look with thine ears" - Act 4. Scene VI, King Lear, William Shakespeare

Given the wide range of evidence outlined above implicating dorsal brain regions as being involved in auditory-motor integration, it may be useful to consider spatial localization and the 'where' pathway from an auditory-motor perspective. In their paper, Kubovy and Van Valkenburg (2001) argued that auditory spatial localization system could be thought of as one that was "in the service" of visual orientation and that the major function of auditory localization was to direct the eyes to a location of interest. As they stated, such a notion was itself a more refined version of a long-held belief by James Angell approximately a century earlier that people seem to make their localization of sounds either in the form of visual imagery, or in the form of quasi-reflexive movements of the head and eye (Angell, 1908). In the current section, we will present evidence in support of this claim. Before continuing however, an overview of the neural circuitry controlling eye movements is offered.

### 3.1. Cortical areas involved in the generation of saccades

The large amount of research that has been devoted to the study of eye movements has provided a reasonably good understanding of the neural circuitry underlying saccade generation. For the purposes of the present paper, our overview of saccadic circuitry will focus on the parietal and frontal cortical areas (summarized in Fig. 2), although nodes within the cingulate gyrus, caudate, cerebellum and brain stem also exist. Further details can be found in more formal reviews (e.g., McDowell et al., 2008; Munoz et al., 2000; Pierrot-Deseilligny et al., 2004). What is important to note throughout, however, is the degree of overlap between areas activated by auditory spatial processing, and those involved in the generation of eye movements.

Saccades can be broadly classified into two types: reflexive and volitional. Reflexive (also referred to as prosaccades) are those made immediately to the appearance of peripheral visual stimuli. Reflexive saccades are generated via projections from the posterior parietal cortex to the superior colliculus, with the latter subcortical structure being chiefly responsible for the actual execution of any type of saccadic movement (Gaymard et al., 2003; Pierrot-Deseilligny et al., 2004). The region of posterior parietal cortex known to be chiefly involved in reflexive saccades is referred to as the parietal eye field (PEF). Its precise location is equivocal, with some research placing it in the dorsal portion of the inferior parietal lobe, on the lateral aspect of the IPS (Müri et al., 1996; Pierrot-Deseilligny et al., 2004), while others claim a more medial position (Koyama et al., 2004). Strong stimulation of the corresponding area in monkeys (i.e., the lateral intraparietal (LIP) area) elicits contralateral saccades whereas weak stimulation elicits a contralateral visual attention shift (Cutrell and Marrocco, 2002). This latter finding also underscores the role that the PEF plays in attentional processes (Bisley and Goldberg, 2003; Wardak et al., 2002). More recently, a frontal lobe contribution to reflexive eye movements has also been established with a diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) study revealing that the lateral premotor area projects to the IPL, whereas the medial premotor area has connections with the SPL, DLPFC and cingulate gyrus (Tomassini et al., 2007). In light of the frontal lobe's role in saccadic inhibition (Munoz, 2002), such connections may reflect, in part, a means of modulating saccades or at least shifting visual attention.

Though reflexive saccades account for a good proportion of eye movements, another type of saccade includes those that are not immediate responses to an external event, but are either delayed or occur as a result of the observer's own desire. These volitional saccades may occur when the observer is already attending to one object or task and must inhibit a (reflexive) saccade to the occurrence of a secondary visual stimulus in the periphery, until the time is appropriate. In other cases, a volitional saccade may be initiated out of a desire to explore the visual environment. Unlike the PEF-driven reflexive saccades, volitional saccades appear to be more dependent on contributions from the frontal lobe (Pierrot-Deseilligny et al., 2004). In fact, human research involving memory-guided saccades consistently demonstrates the

#### S.R. Arnott, C. Alain / Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 35 (2011) 2162-2173



**Fig. 2.** Schematic of cortical areas involved in eye movement programming (adapted from Pierrot-Deseilligny et al., 2004) overlaid on the auditory dual-pathway schematic from Fig. 1 (dorsal pathway in blue, ventral pathway in gray). Dashed yellow line represents inhibitory connections. Al = primary auditory cortex; AL = anterolateral belt; CL = caudolateral belt; CS = central sulcus; DLPFC = dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; FEF = frontal eye field; HG = Heschl's gyrus; IPS = intraparietal sulcus; ML = middle lateral belt; PEF = parietal eye field; postCS = postcentral sulcus; preCS = precentral sulcus; SC = superior colliculus; SEF = supplementary eye field; SFS = superior frontal sulcus; STS = superior temporal sulcus; VC = visual cortex.

involvement of a premotor region in the vicinity of the precentral sulcus and the caudal-most portion of the SFS, known as the frontal eye fields (FEFs; Brown et al., 2004; Camchong et al., 2006; Paus, 1996; Srimal and Curtis, 2008). This region has long been implicated as a principal brain area involved in oculomotor control given its role in the initiation of voluntary saccadic and pursuit eye movements (Bruce et al., 1985; Paus, 1996).

For example, studies that adopt ocular motor delayed response tasks in which participants are instructed to remember the location of a peripherally presented visual target over the length of a given time period and then generate a saccade to that unmarked location after the delay, often incite activity in the frontal (as well as the parietal) lobe, over and above the basic saccadic circuitry that is already enacted (see, McDowell et al., 2008). Part of the activity in the FEF may reflect memory-guided maintenance of the task's response requirements (Curtis and D'Esposito, 2006) by coding the spatial location of the cue (Srimal and Curtis, 2008). Furthermore, left FEF activity has been implicated in the maintenance of a cue's location whereas right FEF activity has been associated with the preparation and/or planning of a response in addition to maintaining location (Geier et al., 2007). This latter study also found that like the right FEF, activity in the supplementary eye fields (SEFs) located in the upper part of the superior frontal gyrus and on the medial surface of the SFS (Grosbras et al., 1999), was also related to response preparation and/or planning. In general, SEF activity is thought to relate to the motor programming involved in combining a saccade with another body movement, as well as the programming of a sequence of successive saccades (Pierrot-Deseilligny et al., 2004).

In addition to FEF and SEF regions of the frontal lobe, the DLPFC has also been implicated in volitional saccadic programming, especially as it pertains to the maintenance of spatial information in order to mnemonically (Constantinidis et al., 2001) guide the eventual eye saccade (D'Esposito et al., 2000; Funahashi et al., 1993; Geier et al., 2007; Postle et al., 2000), as well as with respect to its involvement in inhibiting reflexive saccades (Camchong et al., 201)

2006; Ford et al., 2005). Consistent with the latter point, McDowell et al. (2005) examined the response-locked activity associated with reflexive saccades and volitional saccades made in the direction opposite to the visual event. An examination of the inhibitory activity as revealed by contrasting antisaccade with the prosaccade activity showed, in addition to greater activity in the DLPFC, increased activation in the medial FEF, SEF and prefrontal cortex, again supporting the general notion of a frontal lobe source for inhibitory saccadic commands (Munoz, 2002).

### 3.2. Eye movements as an ecologically valid response to auditory localization

With a basic understanding of the saccadic circuitry, we will now review research demonstrating the close functional relationship between auditory spatial localization and visual processes. Although this review focuses predominately on eye movements as a means of orienting the visual system, head- and body-orienting behaviours could also be included in this. The relevance of these behaviours to successful sound localization is not lost on the observation that cats, monkeys, and humans all tend to localize sounds more poorly when their heads are restrained and unable to make orientation movements (Populin, 2006, 2008; Tollin et al., 2005). From a functional imaging perspective however, the relatively small amount of muscle and body motion incurred by eye movements relative to other types of visual orientation makes saccades a more appropriate method for study.

In the past, many studies of auditory spatial processing, including the majority reviewed in Section 1, have tended to ignore or downplay the role of eye movements (see, Populin, 2008) by emphasizing non-visuomotor processes, employing auditory spatial tasks where listeners passively attend to the location of a sound (Griffiths et al., 1994, 2000; Griffiths and Green, 1999) or utilizing categorization tasks while the sounds emanate from various locations (Butler et al., 1990; Weeks et al., 1999, 2000; Zatorre et al., 1999). Still other studies have had listeners indicate particular 'target' or 'oddball' locations with a button press (Alain et al., 2008; Barrett and Hall, 2006; Iacoboni et al., 1998), or perform a self-report or comparison task about a sound's location (Alain et al., 2001; Altmann et al., 2008; Grady et al., 2008; Martinkauppi et al., 2000; Wightman and Kistler, 1989). Finally, even when more ecologically relevant approaches to sound localization have been employed such as the use of head-pointing (Carlile et al., 1999; Makous and Middlebrooks, 1990; Recanzone and Makhamra, 1998), or pointing with tools like a gun, stylus, joystick or laser beam (Bushara et al., 1999; Gilkey and Anderson, 1995; Langendijk et al., 2001; Lewald and Ehrenstein, 1998; Oldfield and Parker, 1984; Zwiers et al., 2003), eve movements have been largely ignored.

Yet, in most real-life situations, the process of sound localization usually acts in concert with eye movements. Heffner and Heffner (1992) have made an especially compelling case for this relationship by quantitatively demonstrating that across vertebrate species, the most reliable predictor of sound localization ability is not whether the animal is predominately prey or predator, diurnal or nocturnal, or has a small or large head (an attribute that directly relates to the ability to use binaural cues), but rather the extent of their field of 'best' vision (Heffner and Heffner, 1992). Specifically, animals that have relatively narrow visual fields (e.g., humans and elephants) have good sound-localization acuity, whereas those with wide visual fields do not (e.g., spiny mouse and horses). The correlation is quite striking (r = 0.89, Heffner and Heffner, 1992) and has been shown to hold true not only within a given taxonomic order (e.g., chiroptera (bats), Heffner et al., 2007), but more importantly, regardless of overall visual acuity. These data also make the point that even animals with very poor visual acuity will still orient what little vision they have (i.e., their 'best' vision) towards a sound source. Much of this likely has to do with the fact that foveal vision offers more reliable and far more detailed information about a given object than does auditory information (Alais and Burr, 2004; Witten and Knudsen, 2005).

Furthermore, there is a well-known eccentricity effect with respect to saccades in which saccadic reaction times (SRTs) to auditory events *decrease* as a function of increasing target eccentricity, whereas SRTs increase in response to visual events at increasing eccentricities (Cohen and Ross, 1977; Frens and Van Opstal, 1995; Gabriel et al., 2010; Lueck et al., 1990; Zambarbieri et al., 1982). Specifically, saccades to centrally located stimuli (i.e., <10° from fixation) tend to be faster for visual relative to auditory events, but for distances greater than 10° horizontal eccentricity, the SRT relationship reverses and auditory-guided saccades become increasingly faster than visually-guided saccades (Frens and Van Opstal, 1995; Gabriel et al., 2010) to the point that sounds located outside of central vision are localized as fast as saccades to visual events located just a few degrees from central fixation (Frens and Van Opstal, 1995). Accordingly, depending on whether visual or auditory information is used to guide saccades to locations along the horizontal meridian, these data suggest that it is possible to maintain a relatively constant SRT to objects in the environment.

Further evidence for the interaction between visual and auditory spatial processes is that eye movements and eye position can alter auditory spatial perception. For example, after a person has been tracking moving objects for a period of time (as occurs when observing individual telephone poles on the side of the road from a travelling car; optokinetic nystagmus), reflexive eye movements to brief auditory targets are often shifted in the direction of the tracking movements (Konigs et al., 2007). In addition, auditory space has been shown to 'shift' as much as 40% in the direction of a sustained fixation point, presumably as a means of realigning auditory and visual spatial maps in terms of "straight-ahead" (Cui et al., 2008; Razavi et al., 2007), results echoed by eccentric gaze effects on the localization of both auditory and visual stimuli (Cui et al., 2010; Lewald, 1997, 1998; Otake et al., 2007; Van Barneveld and John Van Opstal, 2010). Consistent with this, Zimmer et al. (2004) have reported V1/V2 hemodynamic activity associated with sound localization that occurs during eccentric eye positions in neurologically intact persons, suggesting a relation between neural processing in the visual cortex and the transformation of auditory spatial coordinates responsible for maintaining the perceptual alignment of audition and vision with changes in gaze direction.

Eccentric eye position exerts its effects on neurons at a number of different levels in the auditory pathway, including the superior colliculus (Jay and Sparks, 1984, 1987), and the spatially sensitive neurons of the caudal belt (Woods et al., 2006). Furthermore, saccadic trajectories towards visual stimuli can be altered by the presence of non-informative auditory distractors (Doyle and Walker, 2002; Sheliga et al., 1994, 1995), and visual spatial judgments can be altered by the presence of localized auditory events (Arnott and Goodale, 2006). Even the costs associated with invalidly cued auditory localization judgments have been found to be reduced when repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation is applied to the FEF (Smith et al., 2009), suggesting that even during normal auditory spatial attention, the eyemovement system is involved. Finally, perhaps one of the most convincing examples of an auditory spatial link to the visual orientation system comes from Zwier et al.'s (2003) adaptation study. Auditory localization measures carried out on participants who had worn lenses for 2-3 days that compressed the visual field by a factor of 0.5, not only demonstrated a corresponding compression of the auditory field within the visual field of view, but also showed that the localization of peripheral auditory locations that were outside the visual field of view (and thus had not been subjected to visual-auditory distortions) was also affected.

All of this serves to underscore that auditory spatial processing and the eye movement system are not processed in strictly isolated and independent manners. Rather, the localization of auditory events often interacts and integrates with the visual system. Prior research comparing auditory and visual spatial networks in neurologically intact humans has tended to show both distinct activations (e.g., within auditory and visual cortices) as well as common areas of functional overlap (e.g., within prefrontal and parietal regions, Bushara et al., 1999; Lewis et al., 2000; Martinkauppi et al., 2000; Sestieri et al., 2006; Stevens et al., 2000). However, it is often unclear from this earlier work the extent to which the overlapping auditory and visual networks reflect spatial processing per se, or are related to arousal, task demands and/or responserelated activity (e.g., button pressing). For example, Bushara et al. (1999) found modality-specific activation within distinct areas of the SPL as well as the middle frontal gyri when comparing functional activity associated with an auditory localization task and a visual localization task. Common areas of overlap between modalities included bilateral IPL, right inferior temporal cortex and right medial frontal cortex. This region of the parietal lobe was also found to be active during a crossmodal spatial localization task (Sestieri et al., 2006). Specifically, when participants performed a location matching task based on visual objects that were presented in the left or right hemisphere and that were paired with corresponding environmental sounds presented to the left or right ear, location-specific activity was found within the right intraparietal sulcus. Taken together, these results suggest that the region around the intraparietal sulcus (including the IPL and SPL) shows both overlap and modality-specific activation during spatial tasks. Such activity does not seem to be related to the task-related response measures (i.e., response button pressing), since this activity was over and above that associated with non-spatial tasks that required similar motor responses (see also Alain et al., 2008). However, given the proximity to the PEFs (see Section 3.1), the possibility

remains that some of this activity could relate to eye movement programming.

## 3.3. Cortical brain regions where auditory-visual spatial interactions occur

Although there is no doubt that subcortical structures such as the superior colliculus play a significant role in integrating auditory space with visual information and eye movements (Jay and Sparks, 1984, 1987; Lomber et al., 2001; Maier and Groh, 2009; Meredith and Stein, 1983; Wallace et al., 1996), there is equally little doubt of the involvement of cortical structures in this behaviour (Alvarado et al., 2007; Stricanne et al., 1996). It is this latter involvement that we will turn to now.

### 3.3.1. Frontal eye fields

Research in the macaque demonstrates that whereas the lateral FEF is innervated by visual afferents from retinotopically organized foveal representations and areas that represent central vision in inferotemporal cortex, the medial FEF receives input from auditory areas as well as retinotopically organized peripheral representations and other areas emphasising peripheral vision (Schall et al., 1995). Consistent with the notion that auditory localization serves to orient the visual system to peripheral locations of interest, lateral and medial FEF are known to code for short and long saccades, respectively (Schall et al., 1995). Given that visually and aurally responsive FEF neurons are active both before and during saccadic execution (Mohler et al., 1973; Russo and Bruce, 1994), it seems plausible that auditory spatial processing may automatically prime the FEFs to prepare volitional eye movements or at least direct attention to an auditory event. These qualities are certainly in keeping with our finding that auditory spatial (but not nonspatial) processing is associated with activation in regions around the SFS (Arnott et al., 2004). Notwithstanding the fact that none of those auditory spatial studies actually involved eye movements (indeed, some actively discouraged it, potentially accounting for DLPFC activity related to saccadic suppression), it has been shown that neurons within the FEF participate not only in volitional eye movements, but also in overt as well as covert shifts of attention to particular locations in space (Schall, 2004).

With respect to non-eye movement related activity, single cell evidence in monkeys demonstrates that some FEF neurons code for the spatial location of objects, even in the absence of saccadic preparation (Armstrong et al., 2009). Interestingly, recent evidence suggests that the FEF can be activated very quickly following the onset of external stimuli. For example, using human intracerebral recordings it was demonstrated that FEF activity was modulated as early as 45 ms following the onset of a visual stimulus, and as early as 24 ms following the onset of an auditory stimulus (Kirchner et al., 2009). Direct projections from auditory cortex to the FEF appear to support this rapid time course (Hackett et al., 1999). In this manner, the FEF may be viewed as part of a direct route for rapid activation of circuits serving multimodal spatial attention (Muggleton et al., 2009; Nuding et al., 2009; Ungerleider et al., 2008). Moreover, this FEF coding does not appear to be restricted to 'visual' space. Although some of the early FEF findings reviewed above (cf., Goldberg and Bruce, 1990; Russo and Bruce, 1993; Schall et al., 1995) have traditionally been interpreted to suggest that the FEF represents space retinotopically, more recent studies have begun to show otherwise. A functional imaging investigation of human subjects carrying out an auditory localization working memory study (Tark and Curtis, 2009) revealed that FEF activity was present not only for stimuli occurring in retinal space, but also for auditory sources located behind the head (i.e., in 'extra-retinal' space). Such results suggest the existence of FEF neurons that represent space in a head-centred (i.e., auditory-space) or hybrid coordinate frame.

### 3.3.2. Parietal lobe

Auditory and visual signals are known to converge in many areas of the primate parietal lobe including the lateral, medial, and ventral banks, and regions within the intraparietal cortex likely play a role in guiding attention to, remembering and responding to locations of sensory stimuli (Andersen and Buneo, 2002; Colby and Goldberg, 1999). Furthermore, the parietal cortex is almost always reported active during tasks that require sound and/or visual localization (Arnott et al., 2004; Ungerleider and Haxby, 1994), with activity in the right IPL predicting behavioural performance on auditory spatial localization tasks (Leung and Alain, 2011; Zatorre et al., 2002). Auditory and visual information may preferentially activate different areas of parietal cortex, with one fMRI study that measured orienting and maintenance of auditory and visual spatial attention finding that inferior and superior parietal lobules were more activated by auditory and visual spatial tasks, respectively (Salmi et al., 2007). The fact that such activation seems to occur only when explicit attention is devoted to spatial stimuli (Tiitinen et al., 2006; Zatorre et al., 2002), suggests a role for the parietal cortex in active attentional tasks. In keeping with this, results from our own lab demonstrate that even when response-related (i.e., button press) activity is accounted for in the cortical functional activity associated (by modelling the target-related activity associated with the button press response to an auditory location repetition), sustained sound localization activity persists in the parietal lobe and is even modulated by the difficulty of the working memory task (Alain et al., 2008, 2010).

That said, a pervasive role that has been attributed to parietal cortex is that involved in sensorimotor integration. Indeed, the above results are not inconsistent with a role of the parietal cortex in preparing eye movements to those auditory locations, especially with respect to the PEF. In both monkey and human parietal cortex, there exist neurons that have retinotopic receptive fields that show preferred tuning to contralateral space, and that show spatially tuned elevated firing rates during delay periods prior to making saccadic responses (Blatt et al., 1990; Gnadt and Andersen, 1988; Schluppeck et al., 2006). Whether this type of activity reflects retrospective stimulus representation or goaldirected activity is a matter of debate (Gottlieb, 2002). In addition to eye movement planning, regions of the posterior parietal cortex are dedicated to planning other types of movements, including reaching and grasping (Andersen, 1997).

What is the nature of this sensorimotor parietal activity? A good deal of research indicates that the parietal cortex translates the location of an auditory object into a coordinate system that can be used in conjunction with the visual system (Stricanne et al., 1996). Recent research shows that neurons activated during saccades to sounds or visual events appear to operate on a reference frame that is neither purely head- (i.e., auditory) nor eye-centred but rather is a 'hybrid' version of both (Gherri et al., 2008). Furthermore, monkey and human research on the ventriloquism after-effect suggests that this hybrid reference frame can be spatially specific in that the recalibration of auditory space that occurs following adaptation to audio-visual stimuli only occurs for locations around the trained spatial region (Kopco et al., 2009). In other words, the parietal cortex may provide a supramodal map of an object's location that can be used to guide behaviour and response to task-relevant stimuli (but for evidence against a single, modality-independent spatial representation of sensory signals, see Klingenhoefer and Bremmer, 2009). This modality-invariant representation of space is also supported by the fact that ventral intraparietal neurons in the macaque respond with varying intensity according, not only to the spatial location of sounds, but also preferentially to visual stimuli occurring at the same location as those sounds (Schlack et al., 2005). This work also makes it clear that the posterior parietal cortex is a heteromodal region of sensory convergence where multisensory integration and coordinate transformation occurs (Macaluso and Driver, 2005).

### 3.3.3. Other cortical regions

Studies examining auditory spatial processing as it relates to eye position have found non-systematic effects localized to the spatially sensitive neurons of the caudal belt (Woods et al., 2006). Furthermore, electrophysiological investigations of macaque auditory cortex suggest that the eccentric eye effects in the temporal lobe may originate from feedback projections from parietal or frontal cortices as opposed to subcortical structures (Fu et al., 2004), and that the caudal portion of the auditory belt and parabelt regions provide the bulk of auditory connections related to directing eye movements towards stimuli of interest (Hackett et al., 1999).

With respect to visual cortex, accumulating evidence suggests the region is also modulated by sound localization tasks. Some of this research includes the finding that the hemodynamic activity in human visual cortex increases when listeners localize sounds without making any eye movements (Zimmer et al., 2004), that peripheral visual cortex is activated by sound sources outside the visual field (Cate et al., 2009), and that sound localization is systematically shifted when repetitive transmagnetic stimulation (rTMS) is applied over occipital cortex (Lewald et al., 2004). Moreover, 'retinotopic' distortions of visual space using peripheral visual cues have also been found using peripheral auditory cues (Arnott and Goodale, 2006), and the superior auditory spatial processing abilities exhibited by cortically blind individuals often stems from the recruitment of occipital areas (Collignon et al., 2009). As with the FEF, modulations in visual cortical activity as a result of auditory events are made plausible by the direct long range connections that exist between the occipital and auditory cortices (Clavagnier et al., 2004; Falchier et al., 2002; Hikosaka et al., 1988).

### 3.4. Summary

In an effort to understand auditory spatial processing in the context of a dorsal pathway that is useful for guiding motor output in order to achieve goal-directed outcomes, we have reviewed evidence showing the close interface between auditory spatial processing and visual processes, especially as it relates to guiding the oculomotor system towards locations of interest. In this way, it may be possible to understand auditory spatial processing (and thus the dorsal auditory pathway) as being related to the programming of saccadic movements towards a location in space.

In keeping with this, part of the contribution of the parietal lobe seems to be to compute a supramodal map of space in order to carry out sensorimotor integration tasks that can lend itself to guiding eye movements (or reaching and grasping movements) to a particular location. With respect to the frontal lobe, physiological research suggests that particular regions of the FEF receive direct input from auditory and peripheral visual areas, and that these FEF regions are activated very early following the onset of a stimulus (visual or auditory). In addition to its role in directing volitional eye movements, the FEF may be particularly relevant for directing attention to regions of space that are not only outside the central visual field, but are outside the visual space entirely. In the final section, we will consider the auditory dorsal stream in a larger, multimodal context by considering the role that attention plays in orienting the visual system to a sound of interest.

### 4. Dorsal pathway and attentional orienting

In addition to its role in eye movement programming, it is clear from what we have reviewed that a large proportion of auditory activity in the dorsal stream is associated with attentional processing. The inclusion of an attentional component does not invalidate the idea that auditory localization serves to inform/orient the visual system. In reality, spatial attention and eye movement programming can be thought of as part and parcel of the same orienting mechanism. For instance, while strong stimulation of the PEFs in monkey area LIP results in overt eye shifts to contralateral space, weak stimulation of the same area results in attentional shifts to that contralateral space (Cutrell and Marrocco, 2002). In other words, overt visual orienting mechanisms (i.e., eye movements) can be regarded as occupying one end of an orientation continuum. As such, spatial shifts of attention can be regarded as a form of orientation that is either low-level (e.g., a precursor to eve movement itself), or perhaps a covert way of monitoring a spatial location without involving overt orientation movements of the head, eyes, or entire body. One can certainly imagine situations in which the ability to suppress overt eye movements and merely attend to a particular spatial location without drawing attention through body motion would be functionally advantageous to an organism. As such, the dorsal pathway seems well suited for directing this type of behaviour.

The idea that the dorsal stream is important for attentional orienting has been advanced as a reason why the dual pathway functional specialization in vision exists in the first place. For example, Vidyasagar (1999) has argued that, in the case of visual search tasks, the dorsal pathway's sensitivity to movement and low contrast stimuli make it well suited for directing the focus of attention to various locations where the colour-sensitive and spatially detailed processing of the ventral pathway can be deployed. In effect, the dorsal pathway functions as a kind of filter that directs the 'attentional spotlight' to particular regions in space so that ventral stream processes can be brought to bear on the objects/features at that location. In a similar manner, Bar et al. (2006) have argued that through 'bottom-up' and 'top-down' interactions, a faster dorsal pathway may provide an earlier, coarse representation of visual objects that can, in turn, be used to inform and/or bias ventral pathway processes.

Although these theories were based on visual research, they certainly have relevance to the auditory domain, especially in light of the repeated findings that the auditory dorsal 'where' stream appears to process information more quickly than does the ventral 'what' stream. For instance, an early behavioural study by Näätänen et al. (1980) demonstrated that listeners were faster to detect changes in a tone's location (left or right ear) compared to large (>7000 Hz) changes in frequency. Moreover, several functional imaging results also support this finding (but see, Woods et al., 2001), including an electrophysiological study in macaques that found a temporal advantage for the visual dorsal over the ventral stream (Chen et al., 2007). For example, Schröger and Wolff (1997) found that location deviations (i.e., 300 µs interaural timing differences) in a tonal pattern generated a mismatch negativity component (MMN) that was 25 ms earlier than the MMN elicited by frequency deviations (600 Hz versus 660 Hz) in the tonal pattern, even though the two types of deviations were shown to be equally salient. Similarly, during a passive listening experiment, changes in the location of animal vocalizations (i.e., 90° left or right of midline as simulated by generic HRTFs) were found to elicit neural activity that was 100 ms earlier than that elicited by changes in the type of animal vocalization (i.e., sheep call or barking dog, Altmann et al., 2007). Moreover, the locations where these changes took place occurred along regions in the 'where' and 'what' pathways, respectively. Finally, Ahveninen et al. (2006) also reported auditory evoked potential activity related to localization processing (45° left versus 45° right locations as determined using HRTFs) that was 30 ms earlier than that related to identification processing (vowel discrimination). As in the Altmann study, fMRI revealed that the location of these changes occurred in respective what-where pathways. While these findings suggest that the auditory dorsal pathway's processing speed is such that it could begin to facilitate

visual orienting mechanisms before ventral processes had even finished, they also highlight the obvious, but heretofore understated notion that sound localization serves to inform and orient the auditory system itself. That is, while auditory localization may be 'in the service' of the visual orienting system, it surely contributes to the auditory system as well, by directing the ventral stream processes to particular sound sources or objects (Arnott and Alain, 2002; McDonald and Alain, 2005).

#### 4.1. Multiple streams

That said, how can an action schema involving eye movements or attentional shifts to particular locations explain IPL activations in response to sounds that have no apparent spatial properties (cf., Arnott et al., 2004)? One possibility is that by processing nonspatial *and* spatial information, the IPL is able to form a more stable/salient perceptual representation of an object in order to guide goal-directed behaviour (Cohen et al., 2005). This interpretation is consistent with the previously reported findings of increased IPL activity in response to non-spatial action sounds (Arnott et al., 2008; Lewis et al., 2005, 2006), with the argument being that by associating the auditory action sounds with those objects, the listener is able to acquire a more vivid or stable percept of the object in question. Indeed, these arguments echo earlier sentiments that a major function of the dorsal pathway is to direct attention to objects (Corbetta and Shulman, 2002; Vidyasagar, 1999).

Even with the inclusion of an attentional component, we acknowledge that viewing the auditory dorsal stream as one that directs the visual system to a location of interest may not explain all instances of auditory spatial function. Rather, it is possible that multiple processes are being carried out in the dorsal pathway and that a single rubric will never capture the entire functional aspects of this region of the brain. Indeed, as Kaas and Hackett (1999) noted in their original commentary on the auditory dual pathway data, there may in fact be multiple streamlets in the auditory dorsal pathway. We would note too that a major difference between visual and auditory spatial processing is that visual objects can be gleaned from the retinotopic organization of the visual system. Since no such topographic map of auditory space has been found in the human cortex, there is a real need within the auditory system to incorporate auditory processing into some form of spatial map. While some of this computation is carried out in subcortical structures like the superior colliculus (Jay and Sparks, 1987), regions of the dorsal pathway are most likely also involved, especially in the parietal cortex as we have seen (Andersen, 1997; Bushara et al., 1999; Lewald et al., 2002; Stricanne et al., 1996). Accordingly, another streamlet within the dorsal pathway may be one that is separate from a potential orienting stream. Indeed, Corbetta and Shulman (2002) have long argued in favour of a two-system model of dorsal stream function with one involved in directing attention towards behaviourally relevant events, and the other being involved in the reorienting of spatial attention to salient and unexpected events. Given the broad role that the parietal cortex plays in auditory processing, including spatial representation, spatial attention, eye movement (motor) planning, sensory motor integration and goaldirected action (Andersen et al., 1997; Cohen, 2009), the likelihood of multiple dorsal streams or functions coexisting within the auditory dorsal pathway remains plausible.

### 5. Concluding remarks

Viewing the auditory dorsal pathway as one that guides or instructs motor output based on acoustic information offers certain advantages. As has been shown, it rather nicely encapsulates models of speech processing (Hickok and Poeppel, 2007;

Rauschecker and Scott, 2009), and helps explain why nonspatial sound processing can stimulate activation in dorsal areas. In keeping with the notion of goal-directed actions, our literature review has shown how auditory spatial processing within the dorsal pathway may be thought of as a means by which the visual system can be guided to a peripheral location of interest. Although the predominate method by which this occurs is in terms of overt orientation movements of the body (e.g., eye movements), one can also include shifts of attention since such shifts are often part and parcel of orientation movements (and indeed can occur in lieu of such movements). In addition, incorporating an action-based schema into the view of the dorsal auditory pathway does not necessarily discount the possibility that non-spatial auditory events can elicit activity in the dorsal pathway, in the sense that such information may enhance the goal-directed output. Finally, although we suggest that an action schema may be helpful in providing a more holistic account of dorsal auditory function, it is acknowledged that other processes may be occurring in dorsal pathway that are not immediately relevant to motor-output (cf., Husain and Nachev, 2007). Accordingly, we suggest that an aspect of auditory research that should be more fully investigated in the future, is aimed at dissociating possible contribution of eye movements to auditory spatial processing.

### Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank two anonymous reviewers for their helpful comments on an earlier version of this manuscript.

### References

- Ahveninen, J., Jääskeläinen, I.P., Raij, T., Bonmassar, G., Devore, S., Hämäläinen, M., Levänen, S., Lin, F.H., Sams, M., Shinn-Cunningham, B.G., Witzel, T., Belliveau, J.W., 2006. Task-modulated "what" and "where" pathways in human auditory cortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 14608–14613.
- Alain, C., Arnott, S.R., Hevenor, S.J., Graham, S., Grady, C.L., 2001. "What" and "where" in the human auditory system. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98, 12301–12306.
- Alain, C., He, Y., Grady, C., 2008. The contribution of the inferior parietal lobe to auditory spatial working memory. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 20, 285–295.
- Alain, C., Shen, D., He, Y., Grady, C., 2010. Dissociable memory- and response-related activity in parietal cortex during auditory spatial working memory. Front. Aud. Cogn. Neurosci. 1, 1–11, Article 202.
- Alais, D., Burr, D., 2004. The ventriloquist effect results from near-optimal bimodal integration. Curr. Biol. 14, 257–262.
- Altmann, C.F., Bledowski, C., Wibral, M., Kaiser, J., 2007. Processing of location and pattern changes of natural sounds in the human auditory cortex. Neuroimage 35, 1192–1200.
- Altmann, C.F., Henning, M., Doring, M.K., Kaiser, J., 2008. Effects of feature-selective attention on auditory pattern and location processing. Neuroimage 41, 69–79.
- Alvarado, J.C., Stanford, T.R., Vaughan, J.W., Stein, B.E., 2007. Cortex mediates multisensory but not unisensory integration in superior colliculus. J. Neurosci. 27, 12775–12786.
- Andersen, R.A., 1997. Multimodal integration for the representation of space in the posterior parietal cortex. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B: Biol. Sci. 352, 1421–1428.
- Andersen, R.A., Buneo, C.A., 2002. Intentional maps in posterior parietal cortex. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 25, 189–220.
- Andersen, R.A., Snyder, L.H., Bradley, D.C., Xing, J., 1997. Multimodal representation of space in the posterior parietal cortex and its use in planning movements. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 20, 303–330.
- Angell, J.R., 1908. Psychology: An Introductory Study of the Structure and Function of Human Consciousness. H. Holt and Company, New York, NY.
- Anourova, I., Nikouline, V.V., Ilmoniemi, R.J., Hotta, J., Aronen, H.J., Carlson, S., 2001. Evidence for dissociation of spatial and nonspatial auditory information processing. Neuroimage 14, 1268–1277.
- Armstrong, K.M., Chang, M.H., Moore, T., 2009. Selection and maintenance of spatial information by frontal eye field neurons. J. Neurosci. 29, 15621–15629.
- Arnott, S.R., Alain, C., 2002. Effects of perceptual context on event-related brain potentials during auditory spatial attention. Psychophysiology 39, 625–632.
- Arnott, S.R., Binns, M.A., Grady, C.L., Alain, C., 2004. Assessing the auditory dualpathway model in humans. Neuroimage 22, 401–408.
- Arnott, S.R., Cant, J.S., Dutton, G.N., Goodale, M.A., 2008. Crinkling and crumpling: an auditory fMRI study of material properties. Neuroimage 43, 368–378.
- Arnott, S.R., Goodale, M.A., 2006. Distorting visual space with sound. Vision Res. 46, 1553–1558.
- Arnott, S.R., Grady, C.L., Hevenor, S.J., Graham, S., Alain, C., 2005. The functional organization of auditory working memory as revealed by fMRI. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 17, 1–13.

- Bar, M., Kassam, K.S., Ghuman, A.S., Boshyan, J., Schmid, A.M., Dale, A.M., Hamalainen, M.S., Marinkovic, K., Schacter, D.L., Rosen, B.R., Halgren, E., 2006. Top-down facilitation of visual recognition. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 449-454.
- Barrett, D.J., Hall, D.A., 2006. Response preferences for "what" and "where" in human non-primary auditory cortex. Neuroimage 32, 968-977.
- Belin, P., Zatorre, R.J., 2000. 'What', 'where' and 'how' in auditory cortex. Nat. Neurosci. 3, 965-966.
- Benson, D.A., Hienz, R.D., Goldstein, M.H., 1981. Single-unit activity in the auditory cortex of monkeys actively localizing sound sources: spatial tuning and behavioral dependency. Brain Res. 219, 249-267.
- Bisley, J.W., Goldberg, M.E., 2003. Neuronal activity in the lateral intraparietal area and spatial attention. Science 299, 81-86.
- Blatt, G.J., Andersen, R.A., Stoner, G.R., 1990. Visual receptive field organization and cortico-cortical connections of the lateral intraparietal area (area LIP) in the macaque. J. Comp. Neurol. 299, 421-445.
- Brown, M.R., DeSouza, J.F., Goltz, H.C., Ford, K., Menon, R.S., Goodale, M.A., Everling, S., 2004. Comparison of memory- and visually guided saccades using event-related fMRI. J. Neurophysiol. 91, 873-889.
- Bruce, C.J., Goldberg, M.E., Bushnell, M.C., Stanton, G.B., 1985. Primate frontal eye fields. II. Physiological and anatomical correlates of electrically evoked eye movements. J. Neurophysiol. 54, 714-734.
- Bushara, K.O., Weeks, R.A., Ishii, K., Catalan, M.J., Tian, B., Rauschecker, J.P., Hallett, M., 1999. Modality-specific frontal and parietal areas for auditory and visual spatial localization in humans. Nat. Neurosci. 2, 759-766.
- Butler, R.A., Humanski, R.A., Musicant, A.D., 1990. Binaural and monaural localization of sound in two-dimensional space. Perception 19, 241-256.
- Camchong, J., Dyckman, K.A., Chapman, C.E., Yanasak, N.E., McDowell, J.E., 2006. Basal ganglia-thalamocortical circuitry disruptions in schizophrenia during delayed response tasks. Biol. Psychiatry 60, 235-241.
- Cant, J.S., Arnott, S.R., Goodale, M.A., 2009. fMR-adaptation reveals separate processing regions for the perception of form and texture in the human ventral stream. Exp. Brain Res. 192, 391-405.
- Cant, J.S., Goodale, M.A., 2007. Attention to form or surface properties modulates different regions of human occipitotemporal cortex. Cereb. Cortex 17, 713-731.

Carlile, S., Delaney, S., Corderoy, A., 1999. The localisation of spectrally restricted sounds by human listeners. Hear. Res. 128, 175-189.

- Cate, A.D., Herron, T.J., Yund, E.W., Stecker, G.C., Rinne, T., Kang, X., Petkov, C.I., Disbrow, E.A., Woods, D.L., 2009. Auditory attention activates peripheral visual cortex, PLoS ONE 4, e4645.
- Chen, C.M., Lakatos, P., Shah, A.S., Mehta, A.D., Givre, S.L. Javitt, D.C., Schroeder, C.E., 2007. Functional anatomy and interaction of fast and slow visual pathways in macaque monkeys. Cereb. Cortex 17, 1561–1569.
- Chen, J.L., Penhune, V.B., Zatorre, R.J., 2009. The role of auditory and premotor cortex in sensorimotor transformations Ann N Y Acad Sci 1169 15-34
- Clavagnier, S., Falchier, A., Kennedy, H., 2004. Long-distance feedback projections to area V1: implications for multisensory integration, spatial awareness, and visual consciousness. Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci. 4, 117-126.
- Cohen, M.E., Ross, L.E., 1977. Saccade latency in children and adults: effects of warning interval and target eccentricity. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 23, 539-549.
- Cohen, Y.E., 2009. Multimodal activity in the parietal cortex. Hear. Res. 258, 100–105. Cohen, Y.E., Russ, B.E., Gifford 3rd, G.W., 2005. Auditory processing in the posterior parietal cortex. Behav. Cogn. Neurosci. Rev. 4, 218-231.
- Colby, C.L., Goldberg, M.E., 1999. Space and attention in parietal cortex. Annu. Rev. Neurosci 22 319-349
- Collignon, O., Voss, P., Lassonde, M., Lepore, F., 2009. Cross-modal plasticity for the spatial processing of sounds in visually deprived subjects. Exp. Brain Res. 192, 343-358
- Constantinidis, C., Franowicz, M.N., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 2001. The sensory nature of mnemonic representation in the primate prefrontal cortex. Nat. Neurosci, 4. 311-316
- Corbetta, M., Shulman, G.L., 2002. Control of goal-directed and stimulus-driven attention in the brain. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 3, 201-215.
- Cui, Q.N., Bachus, L., Knoth, E., O'Neill, W.E., Paige, G.D., 2008. Eye position and crosssensory learning both contribute to prism adaptation of auditory space. Prog. Brain Res. 171, 265-270.
- Cui, Q.N., Razavi, B., O'Neill, W.E., Paige, G.D., 2010. Perception of auditory, visual, and egocentric spatial alignment adapts differently to changes in eye position. J. Neurophysiol. 103, 1020-1035.
- Culham, J.C., Cavina-Pratesi, C., Singhal, A., 2006. The role of parietal cortex in visuomotor control: what have we learned from neuroimaging? Neuropsychologia 44.2668-2684
- Curtis, C.E., D'Esposito, M., 2006. Selection and maintenance of saccade goals in the human frontal eye fields. J. Neurophysiol. 95, 3923-3927.
- Cutrell, E.B., Marrocco, R.T., 2002. Electrical microstimulation of primate posterior parietal cortex initiates orienting and alerting components of covert attention. Exp. Brain Res. 144, 103-113.
- D'Esposito, M., Ballard, D., Zarahn, E., Aguirre, G.K., 2000. The role of prefrontal cortex in sensory memory and motor preparation: an event-related fMRI study. Neuroimage 11, 400-408.
- Dalla Bella, S., Giguere, J.F., Peretz, I., 2009. Singing in congenital amusia. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 126, 414-424.
- De Santis, L., Clarke, S., Murray, M.M., 2007. Automatic and intrinsic auditory "what" and "where" processing in humans revealed by electrical neuroimaging. Cereb. Cortex 17, 9-17.
- Degerman, A., Rinne, T., Salmi, J., Salonen, O., Alho, K., 2006. Selective attention to sound location or pitch studied with fMRI. Brain Res. 1077, 123-134.

- Deouell, L.Y., Heller, A.S., Malach, R., D'Esposito, M., Knight, R.T., 2007. Cerebral responses to change in spatial location of unattended sounds. Neuron 55, 985-996
- Desimone, R., Ungerleider, L.G., 1989. Neural mechanisms of visual processing in monkeys. In: Boller, F., Grafman, J. (Eds.), Handbook of Neuropsychology. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 267-300.
- Doyle, M.C., Walker, R., 2002. Multisensory interactions in saccade target selection: curved saccade trajectories. Exp. Brain Res. 142, 116-130.
- Falchier, A., Clavagnier, S., Barone, P., Kennedy, H., 2002. Anatomical evidence of multimodal integration in primate striate cortex. J. Neurosci. 22, 5749-5759.
- Ford, K.A., Goltz, H.C., Brown, M.R., Everling, S., 2005. Neural processes associated with antisaccade task performance investigated with event-related FMRI. J. Neurophysiol. 94, 429-440.
- Frens, M.A., Van Opstal, A.J., 1995. A quantitative study of auditory-evoked saccadic eye movements in two dimensions. Exp. Brain Res. 107, 103-117.
- Fu, K.M., Shah, A.S., O'Connell, M.N., McGinnis, T., Eckholdt, H., Lakatos, P., Smiley, J., Schroeder, C.E., 2004. Timing and laminar profile of eye-position effects on auditory responses in primate auditory cortex. J. Neurophysiol. 92, 3522-3531.
- Funahashi, S., Bruce, C.J., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 1993. Dorsolateral prefrontal lesions and oculomotor delayed-response performance: evidence for mnemonic "scotomas". J. Neurosci. 13, 1479-1497.
- Gabriel, D.N., Munoz, D.P., Boehnke, S.E., 2010. The eccentricity effect for auditory saccadic reaction times is independent of target frequency. Hear. Res. 262, 19-25
- Gaymard, B., Lynch, J., Ploner, C.J., Condy, C., Rivaud-Pechoux, S., 2003. The parietocollicular pathway: anatomical location and contribution to saccade generation. Eur. J. Neurosci. 17, 1518-1526.
- Geier, C.F., Garver, K.E., Luna, B., 2007. Circuitry underlying temporally extended spatial working memory. Neuroimage 35, 904-915.
- Gherri, E., Driver, J., Eimer, M., 2008. Eye movement preparation causes spatiallyspecific modulation of auditory processing: new evidence from event-related brain potentials. Brain Res. 1224, 88-101.
- Gifford 3rd, G.W., Cohen, Y.E., 2005. Spatial and non-spatial auditory processing in the lateral intraparietal area. Exp. Brain Res. 162, 509-512.
- Gilkey, R.H., Anderson, T.R., 1995. The accuracy of absolute localization judgments for speech stimuli. J. Vestib. Res. 5, 487-497.
- Gnadt, J.W., Andersen, R.A., 1988. Memory related motor planning activity in posterior parietal cortex of macaque. Exp. Brain Res. 70, 216-220.
- Goldberg, M.E., Bruce, C.J., 1990. Primate frontal eye fields. III. Maintenance of a spatially accurate saccade signal. J. Neurophysiol. 64, 489-508.
- Goodale, M.A., 2008. Action without perception in human vision. Cogn. Neuropsychol. 25, 891-919.
- Goodale, M.A., Milner, A.D., 1992. Separate visual pathways for perception and action. Trends Neurosci. 15, 20-25.
- Goodale, M.A., Milner, A.D., Jakobson, L.S., Carey, D.P., 1991. A neurological dissociation between perceiving objects and grasping them. Nature 349, 154-156.
- Gottlieb, J., 2002. Parietal mechanisms of target representation. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol 12 134-140
- Grady, C.L., Yu, H., Alain, C., 2008, Age-related differences in brain activity underlying working memory for spatial and nonspatial auditory information. Cereb. Cortex 18 189-199
- Grefkes, C., Fink, G.R., 2005. The functional organization of the intraparietal sulcus in humans and monkeys. J. Anat. 207, 3-17.
- Griffiths, T.D., 2008. Sensory systems: auditory action streams? Curr. Biol. 18, R387-R388.
- Griffiths, T.D., Bench, C.J., Frackowiak, R.S., 1994. Human cortical areas selectively activated by apparent sound movement. Curr. Biol. 4, 892-895.
- Griffiths, T.D., Green, G.G., 1999. Cortical activation during perception of a rotating wide-field acoustic stimulus. Neuroimage 10, 84-90.
- Griffiths, T.D., Green, G.G., Rees, A., Rees, G., 2000. Human brain areas involved in the analysis of auditory movement. Hum. Brain Mapp. 9, 72-80.
- Grosbras, M.H., Lobel, E., Van de Moortele, P.F., LeBihan, D., Berthoz, A., 1999. An anatomical landmark for the supplementary eye fields in human revealed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. Cereb. Cortex 9, 705-711.
- Hackett, T.A., Stepniewska, I., Kaas, J.H., 1999. Prefrontal connections of the parabelt auditory cortex in macaque monkeys. Brain Res. 817, 45-58.
- Hafke, H.Z., 2008. Nonconscious control of fundamental voice frequency. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 123, 273-278.
- Hall, D.A., 2003. Auditory pathways: are 'what' and 'where' appropriate? Curr. Biol. 13. R406-R408
- Haxby, J.V., Grady, C.L., Horwitz, B., Ungerleider, L.G., Mishkin, M., Carson, R.E., Herscovitch, P., Schapiro, M.B., Rapoport, S.I., 1991. Dissociation of object and spatial visual processing pathways in human extrastriate cortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 88, 1621-1625.
- Heffner, R.S., Heffner, H.E., 1992. Visual factors in sound localization in mammals. J. Comp. Neurol. 317, 219-232.
- Heffner, R.S., Koay, G., Heffner, H.E., 2007. Sound-localization acuity and its relation to vision in large and small fruit-eating bats: I. Echolocating species, Phyllostomus hastatus and Carollia perspicillata. Hear. Res. 234, 1-9.
- Hickok, G., Poeppel, D., 2000. Towards a functional neuroanatomy of speech perception. Trends Cogn. Sci. 4, 131-138.
- Hickok, G., Poeppel, D., 2004. Dorsal and ventral streams: a framework for understanding aspects of the functional anatomy of language. Cognition 92, 67-99.
- Hickok, G., Poeppel, D., 2007. The cortical organization of speech processing. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 8, 393-402.

Hikosaka, K., Iwai, E., Saito, H., Tanaka, K., 1988. Polysensory properties of neurons in the anterior bank of the caudal superior temporal sulcus of the macaque monkey. J. Neurophysiol. 60, 1615–1637.

Husain, M., Nachev, P., 2007. Space and the parietal cortex. Trends Cogn. Sci. 11, 30–36.

Iacoboni, M., Woods, R.P., Mazziotta, J.C., 1998. Bimodal (auditory and visual) left frontoparietal circuitry for sensorimotor integration and sensorimotor learning. Brain 121, 2135–2143.

James, T.W., Culham, J., Humphrey, G.K., Milner, A.D., Goodale, M.A., 2003. Ventral occipital lesions impair object recognition but not object-directed grasping: an fMRI study. Brain 126, 2463–2475.

Jay, M.F., Sparks, D.L., 1984. Auditory receptive fields in primate superior colliculus shift with changes in eye position. Nature 309, 345–347.

- Jay, M.F., Sparks, D.L., 1987. Sensorimotor integration in the primate superior colliculus. II. Coordinates of auditory signals. J. Neurophysiol. 57, 35–55.
- Kaas, J.H., Hackett, T.A., 1999. 'What' and 'where' processing in auditory cortex. Nat. Neurosci. 2. 1045–1047.
- Kaas, J.H., Hackett, T.A., 2000. Subdivisions of auditory cortex and processing streams in primates. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97, 11793–11799.
- Kirchner, H., Barbeau, E.J., Thorpe, S.J., Regis, J., Liegeois-Chauvel, C., 2009. Ultrarapid sensory responses in the human frontal eye field region. J. Neurosci. 29, 7599–7606.
- Klingenhoefer, S., Bremmer, F., 2009. Perisaccadic localization of auditory stimuli. Exp. Brain Res. 198, 411–423.
- Konigs, K., Knoll, J., Bremmer, F., 2007. Localisation of auditory targets during optokinetic nystagmus. Perception 36, 1507–1512.
- Kopco, N., Lin, I.F., Shinn-Cunningham, B.G., Groh, J.M., 2009. Reference frame of the ventriloquism aftereffect. J. Neurosci. 29, 13809–13814.
- Kosaki, H., Hashikawa, T., He, J., Jones, E.G., 1997. Tonotopic organization of auditory cortical fields delineated by parvalbumin immunoreactivity in macaque monkeys. J. Comp. Neurol. 386, 304–316.
- Koyama, M., Hasegawa, I., Osada, T., Adachi, Y., Nakahara, K., Miyashita, Y., 2004. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of macaque monkeys performing visually guided saccade tasks: comparison of cortical eye fields with humans. Neuron 41, 795–807.

Kubovy, M., Van Valkenburg, D., 2001. Auditory and visual objects. Cognition 80, 97–126.

- Lahav, A., Saltzman, E., Schlaug, G., 2007. Action representation of sound: audiomotor recognition network while listening to newly acquired actions. J. Neurosci. 27, 308–314.
- Langendijk, E.H., Kistler, D., Wightman, F.L., 2001. Sound localization in the presence of one or two distracters. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 109, 2123–2134.
- Leinonen, L., Hyvärinen, J., Sovijärvi, A.R., 1980. Functional properties of neurons in the temporo-parietal association cortex of awake monkey. Exp. Brain Res. 39, 203–215.

Leung, A.W., Alain, C., 2011. Working memory load modulates the auditory "what" and "where" neural networks. Neuroimage 55, 1260–1269.

- Lewald, J., 1997. Eye-position effects in directional hearing. Behav. Brain Res. 87, 35–48.
- Lewald, J., 1998. The effect of gaze eccentricity on perceived sound direction and its relation to visual localization. Hear. Res. 115, 206–216.
- Lewald, J., Ehrenstein, W.H., 1998. Auditory–visual spatial integration: a new psychophysical approach using laser pointing to acoustic targets. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 104, 1586–1597.
- Lewald, J., Foltys, H., Topper, R., 2002. Role of the posterior parietal cortex in spatial hearing. J. Neurosci. 22, RC207.
- Lewald, J., Meister, I.G., Weidemann, J., Topper, R., 2004. Involvement of the superior temporal cortex and the occipital cortex in spatial hearing: evidence from repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 16, 828–838.
- Lewis, J.W., Beauchamp, M.S., DeYoe, E.A., 2000. A comparison of visual and auditory motion processing in human cerebral cortex. Cereb. Cortex 10, 873–888.
- Lewis, J.W., Brefczynski, J.A., Phinney, R.E., Janik, J.J., DeYoe, E.A., 2005. Distinct cortical pathways for processing tool versus animal sounds. J. Neurosci. 25, 5148–5158.

Lewis, J.W., Phinney, R.E., Brefczynski-Lewis, J.A., DeYoe, E.A., 2006. Lefties get it "right" when hearing tool sounds. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 18, 1314–1330.

- Lewis, J.W., Van Essen, D.C., 2000. Corticocortical connections of visual, sensorimotor, and multimodal processing areas in the parietal lobe of the macaque monkey. J. Comp. Neurol. 428, 112–137.
- Lewis, J.W., Wightman, F.L., Brefczynski, J.A., Phinney, R.E., Binder, J.R., DeYoe, E.A., 2004. Human brain regions involved in recognizing environmental sounds. Cereb. Cortex 14, 1008–1021.
- Lomber, S.G., Payne, B.R., Cornwell, P., 2001. Role of the superior colliculus in analyses of space: superficial and intermediate layer contributions to visual orienting, auditory orienting, and visuospatial discriminations during unilateral and bilateral deactivations. J. Comp. Neurol. 441, 44–57.
- Loui, P., Guenther, F.H., Mathys, C., Schlaug, G., 2008. Action-perception mismatch in tone-deafness. Curr. Biol. 18, R331-R332.
- Lueck, C.J., Crawford, T.J., Savage, C.J., Kennard, C., 1990. Auditory-visual interaction in the generation of saccades in man. Exp. Brain Res. 82, 149–157.
- Macaluso, E., Driver, J., 2005. Multisensory spatial interactions: a window onto functional integration in the human brain. Trends Neurosci. 28, 264–271.
- Maeder, P.P., Meuli, R.A., Adriani, M., Bellmann, A., Fornari, E., Thiran, J.P., Pittet, A., Clarke, S., 2001. Distinct pathways involved in sound recognition and localization: a human fMRI study. Neuroimage 14, 802–816.

- Maier, J.X., Groh, J.M., 2009. Multisensory guidance of orienting behavior. Hear. Res. 258, 106–112.
- Makous, J.C., Middlebrooks, J.C., 1990. Two-dimensional sound localization by human listeners. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 87, 2188–2200.
- Martinkauppi, S., Rama, P., Aronen, H.J., Korvenoja, A., Carlson, S., 2000. Working memory of auditory localization. Cereb. Cortex 10, 889–898.
- Maunsell, J.H., Newsome, W.T., 1987. Visual processing in monkey extrastriate cortex. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 10, 363–401.
- McDonald, K.L., Alain, C., 2005. Contribution of harmonicity and location to auditory object formation in free field: evidence from event-related brain potentials. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 118, 1593–1604.
- McDowell, J.E., Dyckman, K.A., Austin, B.P., Clementz, B.A., 2008. Neurophysiology and neuroanatomy of reflexive and volitional saccades: evidence from studies of humans. Brain Cogn. 68, 255–270.
- McDowell, J.E., Kissler, J.M., Berg, P., Dyckman, K.A., Gao, Y., Rockstroh, B., Clementz, B.A., 2005. Electroencephalography/magnetoencephalography study of cortical activities preceding prosaccades and antisaccades. Neuroreport 16, 663–668.
- Meredith, M.A., Stein, B.E., 1983. Interactions among converging sensory inputs in the superior colliculus. Science 221, 389–391.
- Milner, A.D., Goodale, M.A., 2008. Two visual systems re-viewed. Neuropsychologia 46. 774–785.
- Milner, A.D., Perrett, D.I., Johnston, R.S., Benson, P.J., Jordan, T.R., Heeley, D.W., Bettucci, D., Mortara, F., Mutani, R., Terazzi, E., et al., 1991. Perception and action in 'visual form agnosia'. Brain 114 (Pt 1B), 405–428.
- Mohler, C.W., Goldberg, M.E., Wurtz, R.H., 1973. Visual receptive fields of frontal eye field neurons. Brain Res. 61, 385–389.
- Morel, A., Garraghty, P.E., Kaas, J.H., 1993. Tonotopic organization, architectonic fields, and connections of auditory cortex in macaque monkeys. J. Comp. Neurol. 335, 437–459.
- Muggleton, N.G., Juan, C.H., Cowey, A., Walsh, V., O'Breathnach, U., 2009. Human frontal eye fields and target switching. Cortex 46, 178–184.
- Munoz, D.P., 2002. Commentary: saccadic eye movements: overview of neural circuitry. Prog. Brain Res. 140, 89–96.
- Munoz, D.P., Dorris, M.C., Pare, M., Everling, S., 2000. On your mark, get set: brainstem circuitry underlying saccadic initiation. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 78, 934–944.
- Müri, R.M., Iba-Zizen, M.T., Derosier, C., Cabanis, E.A., Pierrot-Deseilligny, C., 1996. Location of the human posterior eye field with functional magnetic resonance imaging. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 60, 445–448.
- Näätänen, R., Porkka, R., Merisalo, A., Ahtola, S., 1980. Location vs. frequency of pure tones as a basis of fast discrimination. Acta Psychol. 44, 31–40.
- Nuding, U., Kalla, R., Muggleton, N.G., Buttner, U., Walsh, V., Glasauer, S., 2009. TMS evidence for smooth pursuit gain control by the frontal eye fields. Cereb. Cortex 19, 1144–1150.
- Oldfield, S.R., Parker, S.P., 1984. Acuity of sound localisation: a topography of auditory space. II. Pinna cues absent. Perception 13, 601–617.
- Otake, R., Saito, Y., Suzuki, M., 2007. The effect of eye position on the orientation of sound lateralization. Acta Otolaryngol. Suppl., 34–37.
- Paus, T., 1996. Location and function of the human frontal eye-field: a selective review. Neuropsychologia 34, 475–483.
- Perenin, M.T., Vighetto, A., 1983. Optic ataxia: a specific disorder in visuomotor coordination. In: Hein, A., Jeannerod, M. (Eds.), Spatially Oriented Behavior. Springer-Verlag, New York, pp. 305–326.
- Perenin, M.T., Vighetto, A., 1988. Optic ataxia: a specific disruption in visuomotor mechanisms. I. Different aspects of the deficit in reaching for objects. Brain 111 (Pt 3), 643–674.
- Pierrot-Deseilligny, C., Milea, D., Müri, R.M., 2004. Eye movement control by the cerebral cortex. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 17, 17–25.
- Populin, L.C., 2006. Monkey sound localization: head-restrained versus headunrestrained orienting. J. Neurosci. 26, 9820–9832.
- Populin, L.C., 2008. Human sound localization: measurements in untrained, headunrestrained subjects using gaze as a pointer. Exp. Brain Res. 190, 11–30.
- Postle, B.R., Berger, J.S., Taich, A.M., D'Esposito, M., 2000. Activity in human frontal cortex associated with spatial working memory and saccadic behavior. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 12 (Suppl. 2), 2–14.
- Rauschecker, J.P., 1997. Processing of complex sounds in the auditory cortex of cat, monkey, and man. Acta Otolaryngol. Suppl. 532, 34–38.
- Rauschecker, J.P., 1998. Parallel processing in the auditory cortex of primates. Audiol. Neurootol. 3, 86–103.
- Rauschecker, J.P., Scott, S.K., 2009. Maps and streams in the auditory cortex: nonhuman primates illuminate human speech processing. Nat. Neurosci. 12, 718–724.
- Rauschecker, J.P., Tian, B., 2000. Mechanisms and streams for processing of "what" and "where" in auditory cortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97, 11800–11806.
- Rauschecker, J.P., Tian, B., Hauser, M., 1995. Processing of complex sounds in the macaque nonprimary auditory cortex. Science 268, 111–114.
- Razavi, B., O'Neill, W.E., Paige, G.D., 2007. Auditory spatial perception dynamically realigns with changing eye position. J. Neurosci. 27, 10249–10258.
- Recanzone, G.H., Cohen, Y.E., 2010. Serial and parallel processing in the primate auditory cortex revisited. Behav. Brain Res. 206, 1–7.
- Recanzone, G.H., Guard, D.C., Phan, M.L., Su, T.K., 2000. Correlation between the activity of single auditory cortical neurons and sound-localization behavior in the macaque monkey. J. Neurophysiol. 83, 2723–2739.
- Recanzone, G.H., Makhamra, S.D.D.R., 1998. Comparison of relative and absolute localization. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 103, 1085–1097.
- Renier, L.A., Anurova, I., De Volder, A.G., Carlson, S., VanMeter, J., Rauschecker, J.P., 2009. Multisensory integration of sounds and vibrotactile stimuli in processing streams for "what" and "where". J. Neurosci. 29, 10950–10960.

- Repp, B.H., 2005. Sensorimotor synchronization: a review of the tapping literature. Psychon. Bull. Rev. 12, 969–992.
- Romanski, L.M., Bates, J.F., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 1999a. Auditory belt and parabelt projections to the prefrontal cortex in the rhesus monkey. J. Comp. Neurol. 403, 141–157.
- Romanski, L.M., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 2002. An auditory domain in primate prefrontal cortex. Nat. Neurosci. 5, 15–16.
- Romanski, L.M., Tian, B., Fritz, J., Mishkin, M., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., Rauschecker, J.P., 1999b. Dual streams of auditory afferents target multiple domains in the primate prefrontal cortex. Nat. Neurosci. 2, 1131–1136.
- Russo, G.S., Bruce, C.J., 1993. Effect of eye position within the orbit on electrically elicited saccadic eye movements: a comparison of the macaque monkey's frontal and supplementary eye fields. J. Neurophysiol. 69, 800–818.
- Russo, G.S., Bruce, C.J., 1994. Frontal eye field activity preceding aurally guided saccades. J. Neurophysiol. 71, 1250–1253.
- Salmi, J., Rinne, T., Degerman, A., Salonen, O., Alho, K., 2007. Orienting and maintenance of spatial attention in audition and vision: multimodal and modality-specific brain activations. Brain Struct. Funct. 212, 181–194.
- Schall, J.D., 2004. On the role of frontal eye field in guiding attention and saccades. Vision Res. 44, 1453–1467.
- Schall, J.D., Morel, A., King, D.J., Bullier, J., 1995. Topography of visual cortex connections with frontal eye field in macaque: convergence and segregation of processing streams. J. Neurosci. 15, 4464–4487.
- Schlack, A., Sterbing-D'Angelo, S.J., Hartung, K., Hoffmann, K.P., Bremmer, F., 2005. Multisensory space representations in the macaque ventral intraparietal area. J. Neurosci. 25, 4616–4625.
- Schluppeck, D., Curtis, C.E., Glimcher, P.W., Heeger, D.J., 2006. Sustained activity in topographic areas of human posterior parietal cortex during memory-guided saccades. J. Neurosci. 26, 5098–5108.
- Schröger, E., Wolff, C., 1997. Fast preattentive processing of location: a functional basis for selective listening in humans. Neurosci. Lett. 232, 5–8.
- Sestieri, C., Di Matteo, R., Ferretti, A., Del Gratta, C., Caulo, M., Tartaro, A., Olivetti Belardinelli, M., Romani, G.L., 2006. "What" versus "where" in the audiovisual domain: an fMRI study. Neuroimage 33, 672–680.
- Sheliga, B.M., Riggio, L., Craighero, L., Rizzolatti, G., 1995. Spatial attentiondetermined modifications in saccade trajectories. Neuroreport 6, 585–588.
- Sheliga, B.M., Riggio, L., Rizzolatti, G., 1994. Orienting of attention and eye movements. Exp. Brain Res. 98, 507–522.
- Shikata, E., Tanaka, Y., Nakamura, H., Taira, M., Sakata, H., 1996. Selectivity of the parietal visual neurones in 3D orientation of surface of stereoscopic stimuli. Neuroreport 7, 2389–2394.
- Smith, D.T., Jackson, S.R., Rorden, C., 2009. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation over frontal eye fields disrupts visually cued auditory attention. Brain Stimul. 2, 81–87.
- Srimal, R., Curtis, C.E., 2008. Persistent neural activity during the maintenance of spatial position in working memory. Neuroimage 39, 455–468.
- Stevens, A.A., Skudlarski, P., Gatenby, J.C., Gore, J.C., 2000. Event-related fMRI of auditory and visual oddball tasks. Magn. Reson. Imaging 18, 495–502.
- Stricanne, B., Andersen, R.A., Mazzoni, P., 1996. Eye-centered, head-centered, and intermediate coding of remembered sound locations in area LIP. J. Neurophysiol. 76, 2071–2076.
- Taira, M., Nose, I., Inoue, K., Tsutsui, K., 2001. Cortical areas related to attention to 3D surface structures based on shading: an fMRI study. Neuroimage 14, 959–966.
- Tardif, E., Spierer, L., Clarke, S., Murray, M.M., 2008. Interactions between auditory 'what' and 'where' pathways revealed by enhanced near-threshold discrimination of frequency and position. Neuropsychologia 46, 958–966.
- Tark, K.J., Curtis, C.E., 2009. Persistent neural activity in the human frontal cortex when maintaining space that is off the map. Nat. Neurosci. 12, 1463–1468.
- Tata, M.S., Ward, L.M., 2005. Spatial attention modulates activity in a posterior "where" auditory pathway. Neuropsychologia 43, 509–516.
- Thiran, A.B., Clarke, S., 2003. Preserved use of spatial cues for sound segregation in a case of spatial deafness. Neuropsychologia 41, 1254–1261.
- Tian, B., Reser, D., Durham, A., Kustov, A., Rauschecker, J.P., 2001. Functional specialization in rhesus monkey auditory cortex. Science 292, 290–293.

- Tiitinen, H., Salminen, N.H., Palomaki, K.J., Makinen, V.T., Alku, P., May, P.J., 2006. Neuromagnetic recordings reveal the temporal dynamics of auditory spatial processing in the human cortex. Neurosci. Lett. 396, 17–22.
- Tollin, D.J., Populin, L.C., Moore, J.M., Ruhland, J.L., Yin, T.C., 2005. Sound-localization performance in the cat: the effect of restraining the head. J. Neurophysiol. 93, 1223–1234.
- Tomassini, V., Jbabdi, S., Klein, J.C., Behrens, T.E., Pozzilli, C., Matthews, P.M., Rushworth, M.F., Johansen-Berg, H., 2007. Diffusion-weighted imaging tractography-based parcellation of the human lateral premotor cortex identifies dorsal and ventral subregions with anatomical and functional specializations. J. Neurosci. 27, 10259–10269.
- Ungerleider, L.G., Galkin, T.W., Desimone, R., Gattass, R., 2008. Cortical connections of area V4 in the macaque. Cereb. Cortex 18, 477–499.
- Ungerleider, L.G., Haxby, J.V., 1994. 'What' and 'where' in the human brain. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 4, 157-165.
- Ungerleider, L.G., Mishkin, M., 1982. Two cortical visual systems. In: Ingle, D.J., Goodale, M.A., Mansfield, R.J.W. (Eds.), Analysis of Visual Behavior. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, pp. 549–586.
- Vaadia, E., Benson, D.A., Hienz, R.D., Goldstein, M.H.J., 1986. Unit study of monkey frontal cortex: active localization of auditory and of visual stimuli. J. Neurophysiol. 56, 934–952.
- Van Barneveld, D.C., John Van Opstal, A., 2010. Eye position determines audiovestibular integration during whole-body rotation. Eur. J. Neurosci. 31, 920–930.
- Vidyasagar, T.R., 1999. A neuronal model of attentional spotlight: parietal guiding the temporal. Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev. 30, 66–76.
- von Cramon, D., Kerkhoff, G., 1993. On the cerebral organization of elementary visuo-spatial perception. In: Gulyás, B., Ottoson, D., Roland, P.E. (Eds.), Functional Organisation of the Human Visual Cortex. Pergamon Press, Oxford, pp. 211–231.
- Wallace, M.T., Wilkinson, L.K., Stein, B.E., 1996. Representation and integration of multiple sensory inputs in primate superior colliculus. J. Neurophysiol. 76, 1246–1266.
- Wardak, C., Olivier, E., Duhamel, J.R., 2002. Saccadic target selection deficits after lateral intraparietal area inactivation in monkeys. J. Neurosci. 22, 9877–9884.
- Weeks, R., Horwitz, B., Aziz-Sultan, A., Tian, B., Wessinger, C.M., Cohen, L.G., Hallett, M., Rauschecker, J.P., 2000. A positron emission tomographic study of auditory localization in the congenitally blind. J. Neurosci. 20, 2664–2672.
- Weeks, R.A., Aziz-Sultan, A., Bushara, K.O., Tian, B., Wessinger, C.M., Dang, N., Rauschecker, J.P., Hallett, M., 1999. A PET study of human auditory spatial processing. Neurosci. Lett. 262, 155–158.
- Wightman, F.L., Kistler, D.J., 1989. Headphone simulation of free-field listening. II: Psychophysical validation. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 85, 868–878.
- Witten, I.B., Knudsen, E.I., 2005. Why seeing is believing: merging auditory and visual worlds. Neuron 48, 489–496.
- Woods, D.L., Alain, C., Diaz, R., Rhodes, D., Ogawa, K.H., 2001. Location and frequency cues in auditory selective attention. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 27, 65–74.
- Woods, T.M., Lopez, S.E., Long, J.H., Rahman, J.E., Recanzone, G.H., 2006. Effects of stimulus azimuth and intensity on the single-neuron activity in the auditory cortex of the alert macaque monkey. J. Neurophysiol. 96, 3323–3337.
- Zambarbieri, D., Schmid, R., Magenes, G., Prablanc, C., 1982. Saccadic responses evoked by presentation of visual and auditory targets. Exp. Brain Res. 47, 417–427.
- Zatorre, R.J., Bouffard, M., Ahad, P., Belin, P., 2002. Where is 'where' in the human auditory cortex? Nat. Neurosci. 5, 905–909.Zatorre, R.J., Mondor, T.A., Evans, A.C., 1999. Auditory attention to space and fre-
- Zatorre, R.J., Mondor, T.A., Evans, A.C., 1999. Auditory attention to space and frequency activates similar cerebral systems. Neuroimage 10, 544–554.
- Zimmer, U., Lewald, J., Erb, M., Grodd, W., Karnath, H.O., 2004. Is there a role of visual cortex in spatial hearing? Eur. J. Neurosci. 20, 3148–3156.
- Zwiers, M.P., Van Opstal, A.J., Paige, G.D., 2003. Plasticity in human sound localization induced by compressed spatial vision. Nat. Neurosci. 6, 175–181.